Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Contemporary Clinical Trials Communications

journal homepage: http://www.elsevier.com/locate/conctc



Study protocol for testing the association between physical activity and academic outcomes utilizing a cluster-randomized trial



Peter Boedeker^{a,*}, Lindsey Turner^b, Hannah Calvert^b, Christi Kay^c, Adria Meyer^c, Chuck Truett^c, Julie Gazmararian^d

^a Department of Curriculum, Instruction, and Foundational Studies, College of Education, Boise State University, USA

^b Center for School and Community Partnerships, College of Education, Boise State University, USA

^c HealthMPowers, USA

^d Department of Epidemiology, Rollins School of Public Health, Emory University, USA

ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: Academic achievement Elementary school Child Fitness Comprehensive school physical activity program (CSPAP) School wellness

ABSTRACT

The Physical Activity Guidelines for Americans recommend adolescents engaging in 60 min of physical activity (PA) every day. Students should spend at least 30 min being active while at school. However, schools rarely provide that much PA time for students. This paper describes the planned analyses for a study evaluating the relationships between PA (measured as average daily minutes of Moderate to Vigorous Physical Activity [MVPA]) and educational outcomes of standardized test scores and classroom grades cross-sectionally in 4 th grade and longitudinally from 4 th to 5 th grade. Investigations of moderators (both student- and school-level), mediators, and potential dosage of average MVPA thresholds are outlined. To ensure a high level of variability in student PA, the Health Empowers You! program is implemented in a random sample of half of the participating schools. The intervention is designed to affect students' PA behaviors and health outcomes (cardiorespiratory fitness, body mass index). Utilizing accelerometer data from students in participating schools, the relationship between PA and health and academic outcomes (academic achievement test scores, reading lexile, grades, attendance, and tardiness) is evaluated. A total of 4968 grade 4 students across 40 schools (20 receiving intervention) participated (75% participation rate), and this cohort is being tracked from grade 4 through grade 5. In addition, implementation process and fidelity data are gathered. Given that school closures in response to COVID-19 pre-maturely terminated Spring 5 th grade data collection, modifications to the original analysis plan are discussed throughout.

1. Introduction

As noted in the Physical Activity Guidelines for Americans [1,2], physical activity (PA) has a myriad of physical and mental health benefits. Consistently meeting the recommendations to engage in 60 min of daily PA is associated with better weight outcomes, improved fitness, reduced risk of cancer and heart disease, and decreased anxiety and depression [2]. However, most US children and adolescents are insufficiently active [3]. Because children typically spend much of their day at school, ensuring that schools offer students regular opportunities to engage in PA is crucial [4], and it is recommended that children engage in at least 30 of their 60 daily minutes of PA while at school [4,5]. Although academic outcomes are a primary focus for schools, research increasingly suggests that PA can benefit academic outcomes,

highlighting the importance of practices to support students' health [6]. In 2015, the Every Student Succeeds Act [7] required schools to consider multiple aspects of student success, expanding school accountability measures to include a focus on "non-academic indicators." Some states now include physical fitness or other health indicators as accountability measures [8,9].

Strategies to promote PA can span a wide array of activities, but generally fall into three approaches: physical education (PE), opportunities for PA during school hours other than PE class, and PA opportunities before or after school. Together, these three strategies—combined with staff involvement and family and community engagement—make up a comprehensive school physical activity program (CSPAP) [10,11]. Several national organizations recommend that schools develop and implement a CSPAP that allows students to engage in at least 30 min of

* Corresponding author. Department of Curriculum, Instruction, and Foundational Studies, College of Education, Boise State University, USA. *E-mail address:* peterboedeker@boisestate.edu (P. Boedeker).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.conctc.2021.100747

Received 21 July 2020; Received in revised form 30 December 2020; Accepted 9 February 2021 Available online 18 February 2021 2451-8654/Published by Elsevier Inc. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/). daily [10,11]. However, while 30 min is a pragmatic recommendation, it is unclear what 'dose' of PA is required to promote improved academic outcomes. In fact, there remain many questions about the impact of PA on academic outcomes.

In 2010, the US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention reviewed 50 studies that examined the association between PA and academics, concluding that increasing or maintaining time for PA at school might improve educational outcomes, but that more studies are needed [6]. The ability to draw definitive conclusions was limited due to a lack of studies utilizing rigorous research methods such as randomized controlled trials (RCTs) [8]. A systematic review in 2018 identified only seven high-quality trials that assessed the impact of PA on academic outcomes; the authors concluded that there is strong evidence for beneficial effects of PA on math achievement, but equivocal evidence for improved overall academic performance [12]. That study utilized an expert panel to identify priorities for the most important future research on this topic, which included examination of mechanistic questions such as moderators of the relationship between PA and academics. Thus, although several RCTs have already been conducted on this topic, there remains a need for long-term, rigorous, evaluations that examine the mechanisms through which PA may improve academic outcomes.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Project aims and objectives

The overall aim of this study is to evaluate the relationship between PA and academic outcomes. This is done in conjunction with the implementation of *Health Empowers Youl* a school-based PA intervention, randomly assigned to half of the participating schools. The intervention is designed to change school PA practices, allowing students to engage in at least 45 min of PA during the school day. The purpose of implementing *Health Empowers Youl* is not so that the intervention may be evaluated; instead, the purpose of implementing the intervention is to yield a wider range of observed student PA. To gain reliable estimates of the relationship between PA and the educational outcomes of interest, particularly at the extremes of PA, the full range of PA levels needs to be observed among students in the sample. Since student PA in schools is typically limited [13], implementation of *Health Empowers Youl* will produce a wider, well-represented range of student PA.

The objectives of the study span both short-term and long-term outcomes in the investigation of the relationship between PA and academic outcomes. Therefore, the following objectives will be analyzed with outcomes cross-sectionally and longitudinally.

Specific objectives include

1: to examine the relationship between student PA and academic outcomes;

2: to examine mechanisms through which such improvement may occur (i.e., the existence of potential mediating relationships), by specifically evaluating:

2.1: whether PA is associated with physical fitness, Body Mass Index (BMI) and proximal behavioral outcomes such as attendance and tardiness;

2.2: whether student PA, physical fitness, Body Mass Index (BMI) and proximal behavioral outcomes are associated with academic outcomes;

2.3: whether mediators of the relationship between PA and academic outcomes exist utilizing the relationships identified in 2.1 and 2.2

3: to determine whether student-level characteristics and schoollevel characteristics moderate the relationship between student PA and academic outcomes

4: evaluate the existence of a relationship between changes in PA and changes in student academic outcomes between 4th and 5th grade, and

5: to identify what amount of PA time is needed to see improvements in academic outcomes.

The study is led by a team at Emory University, with collaborators at HealthMPowers (Norcross, GA) and Boise State University. The research protocol was approved by the Institutional Review Board at Emory University and also by the collaborating school district. The multidisciplinary team includes researchers with expertise in epidemiology, health education, statistics, psychology, education, and PA. The delivery of the intervention is led by HealthMPowers, an organization that was founded by the US Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Emory University, and Children's Healthcare of Atlanta. Over the past decade, HealthMPowers has provided expert technical assistance to more than 2000 schools in Georgia to implement fitness testing and other PA promotion programs. This research study is also guided by an expert advisory panel that includes 10 nationally-recognized experts in education, PA, methodology, and other key aspects of the project.

The original plan for meeting study objectives included data collection on student outcomes through the end of the 2019–2020 school year. However, the participating school district closed their brick-and-mortar operations for much of the Spring 2020 school year, and no standardized assessments were administered. Modifications to the focal outcomes in the longitudinal objectives were made accordingly. These modifications are further discussed when measures are presented in section 2.8.

2.2. Study design

The study utilizes a two-arm cluster-randomized design, with 20 schools assigned to intervention condition and 20 assigned to the delayed-intervention control condition. A total of 40 schools were recruited for the project, from within one large school district in the metropolitan Atlanta area. Data will be gathered over three school years (2017-18, 2018-19, and 2019-20).

2.3. School recruitment and randomization to condition

The first step was determination of eligibility. With the assistance of collaborators at the school district, demographics for all elementary schools in the district were obtained, including: number of grade 3 classes; average number of students per grade 3 class; racial/ethnic composition of the student body; and the economic make-up of the students' families, which was proxied by the percentage of students at each school who were eligible for free or reduced-priced meals (FRPM). In addition, because PE is a major source of PA time at school, efforts were made to account for PE minutes in the randomization. School district administrators provided the researchers with information about the scheduling of PE classes at each school. This was used to calculate the number of minutes of PE that each school provided per month, on average, to grade 4 students.

The first step in school selection was to identify 40 schools to approach for participation. Two strata were created to ensure that higher and lower socioeconomic schools were sampled. Schools were allocated to one of two groups: higher socioeconomic status (less than 50% FRPM), and lower socioeconomic status (50% FRPM or more). Within each group, a random number generator was used to assign each school a number, the list was sorted, and the first 20 schools were selected. The demographics of these 20 schools were comparable to the demographics of all schools within the strata, indicating that the 20 selected were representative of that strata. These schools were then randomized to condition.

The randomization was conducted by a PhD level educational methodologist. An urn procedure was used, which adjusted the probabilities of allocation based on two key school-level characteristics: so-cioeconomic status (based on FRPM), and the number of minutes of PE per month scheduled for grade 4 students. After the allocation of 20 schools to the intervention and 20 schools to the delayed-intervention

control, comparisons of the demographic characteristics of both groups (number of students, number of grade 4 classrooms, racial/ethnic composition, FRPM, PE minutes) were made. This confirmed that there were no statistically significant differences between the characteristics of the schools in each of the two conditions. All 40 schools accepted the condition randomization and agreed to participate in the project.

2.4. Student recruitment

All students who were not enrolled in a full-time special education classroom in grade four at participating schools at the beginning of the 2018-19 school year were eligible for enrollment in the study. Teachers of special education classrooms were allowed to participate in training and received resources for implementation at their discretion; however, given that these classes typically include multiple grade levels and may require complex additional supports, students in these classes were excluded from data collection. The recruitment process was facilitated by the principal and office staff at all of the schools participating in the study, with information distributed to parents in August 2018. Enrollment into the study included providing parental consent and student assent for participation in the PA measurement (accelerometry), and providing authorization for the school district to share and link archival records (test scores, reading lexile, grades, attendance, and tardiness) as part of the analytic dataset that the district will provide to the research team each year. A total of 4968 students consented to be in the study. This represented a 75% response rate among all potential eligible students (73% at control schools; 78% at intervention schools).

2.5. Intervention description

Health Empowers You! is a multi-level intervention designed to promote school-wide systems-change to shift school practices and culture, and to promote implementation of a CSPAP that provides students with at least 45 min of PA each day. The intervention has been shown to significantly increase PA levels of elementary school students [14]. Because of its comprehensive, ecological nature and its focus on the whole student, this program is consistent with the Whole School, Whole Child, Whole Community framework [15,16]. This framework focuses on the entire school, leveraging internal resources as well as community resources such as technical assistance and support from health educators.

Trained Physical Activity Specialists (PASs) provide training and technical assistance to teachers to implement the PA intervention. Teachers are given web content, weekly calendars with PA resources and strategies, monthly training webinars, and exercise equipment to support this content. Four key strategies are used by HealthMPowers to support schools in implementing practices and policies that create a school environment that supports student PA. These include: 1) school engagement and assessment; 2) training; 3) PA equipment and resources; and 4) ongoing assessment and technical assistance. Each of these intervention components are described in more detail below.

2.5.1. School engagement and assessment

In this aspect of the intervention, baseline information was collected about current practices and training was provided for classroom teachers to develop the capacity to increase PA through a school-level action plan. Top-down support was gained by engaging administrators and obtaining their buy-in; teacher accountability was secured by a participation agreement outlining all responsibilities that were expected of teachers in order to receive their stipend at the end of each year. Environmental cues were posted throughout the school to promote PA engagement.

2.5.2. Training and action planning

Classroom teachers were provided with ongoing in-person and virtual training and technical assistance, and PE teachers received

professional development to learn and develop strategies to increase physically-active time during PE. In August 2018, the HealthMPowers team trained 4th grade teachers from the intervention schools on strategies and resources for integrating a minimum of 45 min of PA during the school day. A second training for 5th grade teachers occurred in August of 2019. Throughout the two years of the intervention period, school staff received continued training and support from PASs to monitor student PA time and ensure 45 min of daily PA for students using the equipment, resources, and strategies provided.

2.5.3. PA equipment and resources

After the August training, schools were provided with PA equipment, resources and teaching aids aligned to the Georgia Standards of Excellence to facilitate the integration of PA into the school day. Resources included: posters that teach and encourage classroom-based exercises; student commitment pledge cards; web-based resources including short exercise sequences that students and staff could do at their desks without equipment or teacher training; workbooks with weekly calendars of specific physical activities; integrated math and physical activity ideas; and sets of PA equipment.

2.5.4. Ongoing assessment and technical assistance

Objective student PA data were collected via accelerometry at all schools, but in the intervention condition, summary information about student PA was provided to the school team for use in identifying opportunities for ensuring additional PA. This objective feedback allowed PASs to provide additional technical assistance for classroom teachers with low student PA levels, in the intervention condition only. Short (10 min) interactive webinars refreshed teachers on previous content and provided more detailed implementation support.

2.6. Delayed-intervention control condition

In control schools, teachers received a small stipend to facilitate student-level PA data collection over the two-year study period, but they did not receive the intervention. All measures, except those to assess intervention fidelity, were collected from control schools. Control schools received the intervention after the end of the trial, in the fall of 2020.

2.7. Data collection

Data collection for this study leverages the standard accountability measures and assessments that are collected by the collaborating school district (student demographics and academic outcomes), plus additional assessments for this project. Data collection time points and measures are specified in Table 1 and described below.

2.8. Measures

2.8.1. Student-level measures

2.8.1.1. Demographics. At baseline, student age, gender, race/ethnicity, and eligibility for FRPM were obtained from the school district office. The student assent form and parent assent form provided authorization for the school district to share this information with the research team, but student identity (private identifying information) remained protected.

2.8.1.2. Academic outcomes: achievement. The original plan was to use the standardized Georgia Milestone test for reading and mathematics as academic outcomes. The Georgia Milestone's comprehensive summative assessment is administered annually in the spring for each student in grades 3 to 8. The test was first used in Spring 2015 and is the best objective universal indicator of students' academic performance in

Table 1

Student, classroom/teacher and school-level data collection measures and timepoints.

	Spring 2018	Fall 2018	Spring 2019	Fall 2019	Spring 2020
Student Measures					
Demographics	Х				
Academic Measures					
Standardized Achievement	Х		Х		Х
Test (Georgia					
Milestones)					
Reading Lexile Level	х		х		Х
Grades		Х	х	Х	Х
Attendance	х		х		Х
Tardiness	х		х		Х
Physical Activity					
5-day accelerometry		Х	Х	Х	Х
during the school day					
Teacher Quarterly PA		Х	Х	Х	Х
Reporting Form					
Student Anthropometric Data from FitnessGram					
Cardiorespiratory Fitness (PACER test)	Х	Х	Х	х	Х
Body Mass Index	х	Х	х	Х	Х
Classroom/Teacher Measures					
Teacher Survey		Х	х	Х	Х
(knowledge, attitudes,					
practices)					
School Measures					
Demographics	х				
PA Practices and Policies		Х		Х	
Survey					
Observational School		Х		Х	
Environment Checklist					

Note. Spring 2018 is the students' 3rd grade, Fall 2018 and Spring 2019 are the students' 4th grade, and Fall 2019 and Spring 2020 are the students' 5th grade. Many of the assessments planned for Spring 2020 could not be collected, e.g., standardized achievement tests, whereas others were only recorded for a portion of the sample, e.g., 5-day accelerometry.

Georgia. Georgia Milestones measures how well students have learned the knowledge and skills outlined in the state-adopted content Standards of Excellence. However, given the precautions taken with regard to COVID-19 resulting in school closures across the state of Georgia, 5th grade standardized test scores were unavailable whereas 4th grade standardized test scores were still available. Therefore, the academic achievement outcomes of interest for students in 4th grade are standardized test scores and teacher-assigned grades and for students when in 5th grade are only teacher-assigned grades. Class grades in the district are determined by classroom specific assessments (50%; e.g., teacher created formative assessments), summative assessments (40%; either teacher developed or from specific curriculum assessments), and district standardized tests (10%). Though classroom grades are not standardized and validated in the same manner as state-wide assessments, classroom grades have been shown to predict outcomes of interest such as high school completion [17] and college outcomes [18] and therefore are important outcomes in education research. Understanding the factors that may predict or affect growth in student grades is relevant for improving these long-term outcomes.

2.8.1.3. Academic outcomes: reading lexile. Reading Lexile level is a method to measure a student reader's ability. Initially, students' Lexile level were to be provided by the district each year, with calculation of student growth curves to compare changes over time. However, due to school closures in response to COVID-19, reading Lexile scores will be available only for 4th grade.

2.8.1.4. Academic outcomes: attendance/absenteeism. The number of days a student was absent from school for the school year. This information was available only for the entire school year and not by semester.

Attendance data were provided to the district from each school for each student. Information for students in participating schools were then provided by the district for analyses.

2.8.1.5. Academic outcomes: tardiness. The number of days a student was tardy to school for the school year. This information was available only for the entire school year and not by semester. Tardiness data were provided to the district from each school for each student. Information for students in participating schools were then provided by the district for analyses.

2.8.1.6. Secondary outcomes: cardiorespiratory fitness and body mass index. FitnessGram® is a health-related fitness test, developed by The Cooper Institute and adopted as the national fitness assessment by the President's Council on Fitness, Sports and Nutrition [19]. Since 2011, Georgia Official Code (20-2-777) requires all classes taught by a certified PE teacher to administer FitnessGram to all students at least once per year. Although PE teachers in the state of Georgia have been trained to administer the FitnessGram assessment, and were provided with standardized scales and height charts, PE instructors and other staff assisting with the assessment were provided with refresher training on the protocol through face-to-face and distance learning materials already developed and widely used by HealthMPowers. Scores were recorded in the FitnessGram software at the student level. Two measures were used from the FitnessGram: cardiorespiratory fitness and body mass index.

Cardiorespiratory fitness is measured by the Progressive Aerobic Cardiovascular Endurance Run (20 m), categorized as the number of laps completed. Student body mass index is based on height and weight measurements taken by trained PE teachers, using the Georgia Fitness-Gram protocols and software to calculate BMI.

2.8.1.7. Student-level fidelity of intervention measure: physical activity. For all enrolled students, PA was objectively measured at two points each year using 5-day accelerometry. Students wore an ActiGraphwGT3X-BT accelerometer (ActiGraph, Pensacola, FL) for one week (5 consecutive school days), at two time points (fall/spring) during each of the two intervention years. Accelerometers were attached to an elastic belt which students wore on the waist. Students were assigned an accelerometer with a specific number on the belt. Students entered class each day, selected their belt with accelerometer and attached the belt around their waist. Students wore the accelerometer belt for the entire school day. At the end of the school day, students removed the accelerometer belts and placed them back into the plastic case in the matching, numbered slot. During the Spring data collection period, in addition to the school day data collection, a subset of students wore the accelerometers at home to capture information about out-of-school-time PA

Data were aggregated over 15-s epochs to capture the sporadic nature of children's activity and to mirror the collection intervals from which the Evenson cut points were developed [20]. Accelerometer data were used to objectively measure metabolic equivalents (METs), which are categorized as: time spent in sedentary behavior (<1.5 METs), light PA (1.5–3.99 METs); moderate PA (4–5.99 METs), vigorous PA (\geq 6 METs), and moderate and vigorous PA (>4 METs). In addition, we measured PA intensity, using mean activity counts per minute divided by each of the three axes, as well as sum of counts, average counts, and maximum counts. Greater counts per minute indicate a higher intensity.

2.8.2. School-level measures

2.8.2.1. School physical activity survey. A modified version of the School Physical Activity Policy Assessment (SPAPA) [21,22] was used to document relevant policies and practices at each school. This survey was administered in two time periods: Fall of 2018–2019 school year and Fall of 2019–2020 school year.

2.8.2.2. Observational audits of school facilities. School visits were conducted in both Spring 2019 and Spring 2020 to obtain data that allowed for the characterization of differences in school facilities relevant to student PA. The Observational School Environment Checklist (OSEC), which assesses the physical and structural environment of schools [23], was used to collect this information. The tool assesses the physical environment in four main locations (cafeteria, lobby/hallway, gym, outdoor areas), with the latter three used in this study (cafeteria is omitted due to this project's focus on PA but not nutrition). The tool was developed with input from school wellness experts and was tested and refined in more than a dozen schools. The observational visit took about 2 h per school, and included taking photographs of school facilities to allow double-coding and calculation of inter-rater reliability.

2.8.3. Fidelity of implementation measures: intervention condition

School calendars served as one measure of fidelity to implementation of the school PA plan. Time scheduled for PE, recess, and other PA activities were extracted from calendars. Teacher PA tracking surveys were collected quarterly, as a self-report measure of classroom PA implementation. Aggregated student accelerometry data (see section 2.8.1.9 above) are used to confirm that changes in school practices are resulting in quantifiable changes to student PA.

2.9. Planned analyses

The primary objective is to determine the association between PA and several academic achievement outcomes (i.e., standardized test scores, teacher-assigned grades), both in the short- and long-term. With cooperation from the district, we will be able to utilize linked data at the student level. We will use hierarchical linear models [24,25] with students at level 1; classrooms at level 2, and schools at level 3. Generally, the following model is specified with modification depending on the objective being addressed (modifications by objective are mentioned after):

Level 1 (student)

$$y_{ijk} = \beta_{0jk} + \beta_{1jk} (PA_{ijk}) + \sum_{s=2}^{S} \beta_{sjk} (Cov.s_{ijk}) + e_{ijk}$$

where y_{ijk} is the outcome for student *i* who has teacher *j* in school *k*, PA_{ijk} is the student's measured PA, and all remaining *S* covariates are captured in the summation, including student-level control variables, potential mediators, and potential moderators (including interactions), depending on the objective. The term β_{0jk} is the predicted value for a student given zero values for all predictors, β_{1jk} is the coefficient of PA and indicates the expected change in the outcome given a one unit increase in PA, β_{sjk} is the coefficient for the *s*th predictor (whether that be a control, potential mediator, or moderator).

Level 2 (teacher)

$$\beta_{0jk} = \gamma_{00j} + r_{0jk}$$
$$\beta_{1jk} = \gamma_{10j} + r_{1jk}$$

$$\beta_{sik} = \gamma_{s0i} + r_{sik}$$

where each coefficient at level one is an outcome in an equation with a fixed effect (γ) and random error term (r). Although each coefficient is described here with a random effect (r), control variables will have variance terms set to zero whereas mediators and moderators will have variances estimated. Because teacher-level covariates are not of interest in meeting the objectives, none are specified.

Level 3

$$\gamma_{00j} = \delta_{000} + \sum_{m=1}^{M} \delta_{m00}(Cov.m_{00k}) + u_{00k}$$

$$\gamma_{10j} = \delta_{100} + \sum_{m=1}^{M} \delta_{m00}(Cov.m_{00k}) + u_{10k}$$

$$\gamma_{s0j} = \delta_{s00} + u_{s0k}$$

where *M* is the total number of control variables or potential school-level moderators. The formula for γ_{00j} contains the main effects of each potential school-level moderator and the formula for γ_{10j} allows for cross-level moderation to be evaluated where, seen after substitution, the interaction effects of school-level variables and PA may be evaluated. Across all levels, the residual terms (*e*, *u*, and *r*) are taken to be normally distributed with a mean of zero and a variance that will either be estimated or fixed to zero, depending on the role of the variable and objective.

2.9.1. Physical activity and achievement

Several similar models are planned to evaluate the association between PA and achievement (objective 1). Outcomes for models include (1) 4th grade standardized test scores in mathematics, ELA, and lexile scores, (2) 4th grade teacher-assigned course grades in mathematics, reading, writing and spelling, and (3) 5th grade teacher-assigned course grades in mathematics, reading, writing, and spelling. The intercept and coefficient of PA will be allowed to vary across levels whereas control variable will have variances fixed to zero. Third grade data and other student-level variables for each of the academic outcomes will be utilized as covariates.

2.9.2. Mediator analyses

A secondary aim is to examine whether higher student PA is associated with greater academic achievement, via proximal education outcomes (attendance and tardiness) or by health outcomes (cardiorespiratory fitness, body mass index). Mediating relationships can be evaluated using a series of multilevel models. In the first model, the potential mediator is specified as the outcome and the coefficient of PA recorded (objective 2.1). In the second model, both the potential mediator and PA are included as predictors of the academic achievement variable (objective 2.2). The coefficient of the mediator is recorded. The product of the recorded coefficients is the estimate of the indirect effect. the confidence interval for which can be determined using monte-carlo methods [26]. The statistical significance of the indirect effect is then determined (objective 2.3) using this confidence interval. Given that level two and three predictors are not of interest in the identification of mediating relationships, the above model specification is modified such that no predictors at level two or three are included (see Fig. 1).

For example, one potential mediator of the relationship between PA and teacher-assigned grades in 4th grade is the number of absences a child has in 4th grade. In the first model for testing mediation, 4th grade absences are predicted by 4th grade PA. In the second model, both 4th grade PA and 4th grade absences are specified as predictors of teacherassigned classroom grade at the end of 4th grade. The coefficient of PA from the first model and the coefficient of number of 4th grade absences from the second model are multiplied together to give an estimate of the indirect effect of PA on 4th grade teacher-assigned grade through the mediator of number of absences. Using the monte-carlo method and online tools provided by Preacher and Selig [27], the confidence interval for this indirect effect may be estimated with supplied values of standard errors and parameter correlation.

2.9.3. Moderator analyses

Additional research aims involve examining moderators of the relationship between PA and outcomes of interest, through the testing of theoretically justifiable cross-level and within-level interaction terms. In the presented models, potential moderators are now included in the level 3 model, such that the main effect of the potential moderator is included in the equation for γ_{00j} and the assessment of the cross-level



Fig. 1. All variables of interest are at the student level while the clustered nature of the data are still accounted for in the multilevel structure. The product of the *a* and *b* paths is the estimate of the indirect effect and *c*' the direct effect remaining of MVPA on academic achievement after parsing out the mediating effect. MVPA = moderate to vigorous physical activity, Med = mediator, AcAch = academic achievement.

interaction term is made possible by including the same moderator in the equation for γ_{10j} . A key question of interest, for example, is to assess whether the association between PA and achievement is comparable for higher-SES and lower-SES schools. In prior work, we found the effect of student cardiorespiratory fitness on academic achievement was stronger in high-SES schools than in lower-SES schools [28]. Similarly, this study will examine how school characteristics moderate these relationships. Furthermore, school characteristics other than demographics may moderate effects. In Georgia, schools with the highest poverty (80–100% FRPM) had the least opportunity for PA [29] and are less likely to have PA facilities such as a playing court or track [30]. Such disparities in school environments are likely to impact whether PA improves academic outcomes for students.

Student-level characteristics may also moderate the relationship between PA and outcomes. For example, student socioeconomic status and race/ethnicity are associated with education and health outcomes, therefore programs that increase PA may yield larger benefits for lowincome and racial/ethnic minority students and thus help to narrow the achievement gap. Socioeconomic status and race/ethnicity have a great impact on education outcomes, with much variation in student performance attributable to demographics [31,32]. This study will examine whether all students benefit similarly from increased PA, through interaction terms in level 1 (with main effect and interaction captured in the summation of the level-1 model). Expected student-level moderators include race/ethnicity, FRPM eligibility, and gender.

2.9.4. Association between changes in PA and changes in grades

The fourth objective is to evaluate the relationship between changes in PA and changes in grades between the first semester of fourth grade and the first semester of fifth grade. The model utilized to evaluate this relationship is similar to the model to investigate Objective 1, except that the difference in PA between 5th grade and 4th grade measurements will be the focal predictor and the outcome will be the difference in teacher-assigned grades in 5th grade and 4th grade.

2.9.5. PA dosage

Objective 5 requires specification of specific cut-points of PA that have been shown to be relevant in the literature and can offer practical

guidelines to schools. One such cut-off is 30 min of in-school MVPA per day. This threshold is based on the recommendation that children should engage in 60 min of MVPA per day and nearly half of the waking hours for children during the week is spent in school [4,5]. Another threshold of interest in the present analysis is 45 min of average MVPA. The Health Empowers You! program is designed to increase student PA with a goal of 45 min of PA; therefore, evaluating this threshold as a benchmark for MVPA is relevant. Finally, 15 min of average MVPA is another threshold because it offers insight into potential benefits of having children routinely participate in any physical activity in-school and offers a convenient gradation of average MVPA in conjunction with the 30- and 45-min thresholds. These thresholds are evaluated by including indicator variables at level 1 of the models with each defining a different range of time in MVPA. Indicators are specified for the range of average MVPA between 15 and 30 min, between 30 and 45 min, and 45 min or more. Average MVPA of less than 15 min is the reference group.

2.10. Power calculation and sample size

Power was calculated using simulation. Because 161 hypotheses are tested, a Bonferroni correction to the alpha level of 0.05 results in an adjusted alpha of approximately 0.0003. Three levels of sample size are considered for the analysis. There are 40 schools within the school district agreeing to randomization. Given the number of students in the participating schools and our primary interest in student-level relationships, the study is adequately powered to detect even marginal effects. For example, specifying an unconditional ICC of 0.25 (across levels 2 and 3) based on Hedges and Hedberg [33] and a standardized effect size of 0.25 between PA and academic achievement (similar to the smallest observed effects found in meta-analytic reviews of the relationship [35,36]), 40 schools with 6 teachers per school and 20 students per teacher yielded power of 100%. For student-level moderator analyses, power with regard to the detection of moderator effects of substantive interest were evaluated. Based on third grade grades, an effect size of 0.25 is a difference in grades of 2.11 (for writing) to 2.38 (for math). An effect size of 0.5 is a difference in grades of 4.22 (for writing) to 4.76 (for math). These differences are considered substantively important as they capture essentially a quarter to one-half letter grade

difference. Based on effect sizes of 0.25 and 0.5 and the previous conditions, the study will have power of 60% and 100%, respectively. For analyses with school-level moderators, the same effects were evaluated yielding power of 99.9% and 100%, respectively. Investigation of potential mediators of the relationship between MVPA and achievement are uncommon in the literature; therefore, two scenarios were evaluated for power. If the total effect of MVPA on achievement is 0.25 (based on the previously used conservative estimate of the main effect), and 25% of this effect is mediated, then the direct effect of MVPA is 0.1875 and the indirect effect is 0.0625. If 50% of the total effect is mediated, then the direct effect is 0.125 and the indirect effect is 0.125. In both of these two scenarios with the proposed data collection power is 100% to detect the indirect effect. In sum, the study is adequately powered to detect effects of interest.

3. Discussion

This manuscript describes a planned investigation of the relationship between PA and academic outcomes in the context of implementing the *Health Empowers You!* Intervention, designed to increase student PA by changing school practices. An extensive accelerometry data collection protocol will yield information that allows for examination of the intervention's fidelity in terms of student PA levels (i.e., whether PA increases at schools in the intervention condition). This paper describes the rationale, aims, intervention design and theory, recruitment and student enrollment, measures, and analysis plan for this trial. This study is unique in the extensive use of intensive, objective measurement of student-level mechanisms of change such as how individual characteristics impact changes in academics, and examination of what 'dose' of daily PA is sufficient to elicit improvements in academics.

3.1. Strengths

This study has at least four strengths. First, using objective measurement of PA through accelerometry is important, and is supplemented by a student self-report survey to validate accelerometry. Second, the intervention is based in ecological theory, focusing on changing school environments. It is also pragmatic, being aligned with the Whole School, Whole Child, Whole Community model [15,16], and utilizing the CSPAP framework [10,11] that allows schools flexibility and adaptability in selecting PA strategies that are feasible and acceptable for their specific needs and resources. Third, this study utilizes a broad range of indicators of academic outcomes, including not only a crucial outcome measure-standardized measures of academic achievement on mathematics and English language arts tests that are aligned to the Common Core State Standards-but also other outcomes that are predictive of student success such as absences, tardiness, and teacher-assigned grades. Fourth, this study has a large sample size, with 40 schools, and a racially and economically diverse cohort of students that will be followed for two school years, which is a much longer period than many prior studies.

3.2. Limitations

As with any research study, this trial has limitations. First, there is not an objective accelerometry measure of student PA at baseline (prior to the beginning of the intervention, in grade 3). Because of this, it will not be possible to examine student-level growth curves for PA from before to after the intervention; however, it will be possible to compare changes over the subsequent two years for students in each of the two conditions. Comparison of these changes will allow for inferences about the impact of the intervention on a key indicator of intervention fidelity, testing whether the intervention increased PA opportunities for students and, consequently, increased student PA levels. Second, although the data collection plan includes 24-h accelerometry from a subset of students, this will not yield a detailed contextualization of the types of PA that students engage in outside of school hours. This study will not gather extensive, detailed data regarding student PA behaviors outside of the school environment (e.g., settings such as at home and in the surrounding neighborhood), nor will it gather data during times such as on the weekend or over the summer between school years. Third, given the disruption in data collection by COVID-19, standardized test scores are only available for the 3rd and 4th grade years, requiring reliance on teacher assigned grades for investigations of change between 4th and 5th grade. Doing so, we are unable to investigate the relationship between changes in PA and changes in pure measures of academic content knowledge. Lastly, the study takes place in one school district, in one state in the US. The district and the schools within it have a broad range of variation in student demographics such as socioeconomic status, and student race/ethnicity, with most schools having diverse student bodies (7 schools have >50% students who are Latino, 3 have >50% students who are Black, and 6 schools have >50% students who are White). However, this sample is not necessarily representative of other schools, regions, states, or the nation, which limits external generalizability.

4. Conclusion

Increasing evidence shows that healthy students are better learners [15,34], and that ensuring that elementary school students have sufficient opportunities to be physically active while at school can improve academic outcomes [6,14]. However, several questions remain, such as what dose of PA is required to promote such improvements, and whether this effect is stronger or weaker for some students than for others, or at some schools versus others. This study adds to prior research that examined the impact of school-based PA on student academic outcomes, by being sufficiently powered to statistically explore mechanistic aims such as identifying the potential moderators of PA's association with academic outcomes. The extended nature of the intervention, over two years, combined with the tracking of a longitudinal cohort of students will allow for examination of the sustained impacts on student outcomes, as a result of changing school-based practices to increase the amount of PA that students engage in while at school.

Funding

This work is supported by a grant from the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation (ID: 74281) and the Ardmore Institute of Health.

Declaration of competing interest

The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank our partners at the district office and at the schools that are participating in this trial, the research assistants at Emory University, and the health educators at HealthMPowers.

References

- Us Department of Health and Human Services, Physical Activity Guidelines Advisory Report, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Washington DC, 2008, 2008, Available at Http://Www.Health.Gov/PAGuidelines/Report/Default. Aspx, Accessed April 20, 2012.
- [2] USDHHS. Physical, in: Activity Guidelines for Americans, second ed., U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Washington DC, 2018. https://health. gov/paguidelines/second-edition/pdf/Physical_Activity_Guidelines_2nd_edition.pd f.
- P.T. Katzmarzyk, K.D. Denstel, K. Beals, C. Bolling, C. Wright, S.E. Crouter, S. B. Sisson, Results from the United States of America's 2016 report card on physical

P. Boedeker et al.

activity for children and youth, J. Phys. Activ. Health 13 (11 Suppl 2) (2016) S307–S313, https://doi.org/10.1123/jpah.2016-0321.

- [4] reportIOM Taking PA/PE to Schools Report.
- [5] SHAPE America, PA Recommendations., 2013.
 [6] Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (Cdc), The Association between School-Based Physical Activity, Including Physical Education, and Academic Performance, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Atlanta, 2010.
- [7] Public Law 114-95, Every student Succeeds Act, 2015 congress.gov/114/plaws/ publ95/PLAW-114publ95.pdf.
- [8] Healthy Schools Campaign, in: How States Are Including Health and Wellness in State Accountability Systems, Healthy Schools Campaign, Chicago, IL, 2017. https ://healthyschoolscampaign.org/policy/states-including-health-wellness-state-acco untability-systems/.
- [9] C. Martin, S. Sargrad, S. Batel, in: Making the Grade: A 50-State Analysis of Accountability Systems, Center for American Progress, Washington DC, 2016. https: ://cdn.americanprogress.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/05/17094420/Accounta bilityLandscape-report2.pdf.
- [10] Shape America, in: Comprehensive School Physical Activity Programs Helping All Students Log 60 Minutes of Physical Activity Eeach Day [Position Statement]. Reston, VA, 2013. http://www.shapeamerica.org/advocacy/positionstatements /pa/upload/Comprehensive-School-Physical-Activity-Programs-Helping-All-Stud ents-Log-60-Minutes-of-Physical-Activity-Eeach-Day.pdf.
- [11] Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, in: Comprehensive School Physical Activity Programs: A Guide for Schools, 2013. https://www.cdc.gov/healthyschoo ls/professional_development/e-learning/CSPAP/assets/TTHS_CSPAP_Full_Course. pdf.
- [12] A.S. Singh, E. Saliasi, V. van den Berg, L. Uijtdewilligen, R.H.M. de Groot, J. Jolles, M.J.M. Chinapaw, Effects of physical activity interventions on cognitive and academic performance in children and adolescents: a novel combination of a systematic review and recommendations from an expert panel, Br. J. Sports Med. (2018), https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2017-098136.
- [13] T.L. McKenzie, D. Kahan, Physical activity, public health, and elementary schools, Elem. Sch. J. 108 (2008) 171–180.
- [14] E. Hyde, J.A. Gazmararian, S. Barrett-Williams, C. Kay, Health Empowers You, Impact of a School-Based Physical Activity Program in Elementary School Students, J Sch Health, Georgia, 2015 in press, 16.
- [15] T. Lewallen, H. Hunt, W. Potts-Datema, S. Zaza, W. Giles, The whole school, whole community, whole child model: a new approach for improving educational attainment and healthy development for students, J. Sch. Health 85 (2015) 729–739.
- [16] Ascd, Cdc, Whole school, whole community, whole child: a collaborative approach to learning and health. http://www.ascd.org/ASCD/pdf/siteASCD/publications/ wholechild/wscc-a-collaborative-approach.pdf, 2014.
- [17] E.M. Allensworth, J.A. Gwynne, P. Moore, M. de la Torre, Looking Forward to High School and College: Middle Grade Indicators of Readiness in Chicago Schools, 2014.
- [18] E.M. Allensworth, K. Clark, High school GPAs and ACT scores as predictors of college completion: examining assumptions about consistency across high schools, Educ. Res. 49 (2020) 198–211.
- [19] C. Corbin, G. Welk, W. Corbin, K. Welk, in: Concepts of Physical Fitness: Active Lifestyles for Wellness, seventeenth ed., McGraw-Hill Education, Columbus, OH, 2016.

- [20] K.R. Evanson, D.J. Catellier, K. Gill, K.S. Ondrak, R.G. McMurray, Calibration of two objective measures of physical activity for children, J. Sports Sci. 26 (2008) 1557–1565, https://doi.org/10.1080/0264041080233419621.
- [21] M. Lounsbery, T. McKenzie, J. Morrow, K. Holt, R. Budnar, School physical activity policy assessment (SPAPA): test-retest reliabilities, J. Phys. Activ. Health 10 (2013) 496–503.
- [22] M. Lounsbery, T. McKenzie, J. Morrow, K. Holt, School physical activity policy assessment (S-PAPA), Available at: http://activelivingresearch.org/school-physic al-activity-policy-assessment-s-papa, 2012.
- [23] K. Campbell, Development and reliability testing of an observational school environment checklist: a comprehensive tool, in: Presented at the: Active Living Research, February 28, 2019. Charleston, SC.
- [24] S. Raudenbush, A. Bryk, in: Hierarchical Linear Models: Applications and Data Analysis Methods, second ed., Sage, Thousand Oaks, CA, 2002.
- [25] P. Boedeker, Hierarchical linear modeling with maximum likelihood, restricted maximum likelihood, and fully Bayesian estimation, Practical Assess. Res. Eval. 22 (2017) 1–19.
- [26] K.J. Preacher, J.P. Selig, Advantages of Monte Carlo confidence intervals for indirect effects, Commun. Methods Meas. 6 (2012) 77–98.
- [27] K.J. Preacher, J.P. Selig, J. P., Monte Carlo method for assessing multilevel Mediation: an interactive tool for creating confidence intervals for indirect effects in 1-1-1 multilevel models [Computer software], Available from, http://quantpsy. org/, 2010.
- [28] M.D. Garber, K.K. Stanhope, M.P. Shah, P. Cheung, J.A. Gazmararian, Effect of cardiorespiratory fitness on academic achievement is stronger in high-SES elementary schools compared to low, J. Sch. Health 88 (2018) 707–716, https:// doi.org/10.1111/josh.12678.
- [29] C. Kay, P. Cheung, P. Weiss, et al., Physical activity opportunities across Georgia elementary schools, in: W.A. Seattle (Ed.), 2015.
- [30] J.A. Gazmararian, P. Cheung, A. Meyer, et al., Elementary school physical activity environments in Georgia: informing programs and policy, in: San Diego, CA, 2015.
- [31] National Center for Education Statistics, Status and trends in the education of racial and ethnic groups 2017. https://nces.ed.gov/pubs2017/2017051.pdf, 2017.
- [32] K. Fiscella, H. Kitzman, Disparities in academic achievement and health: the intersection of child education and health policy, Pediatrics 123 (2009) 1073–1080, https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2008-0533.
- [33] L.V. Hedges, E.C. Hedberg, Intraclass correlation values for planning grouprandomized trials in education, Educ. Eval. Pol. Anal. 29 (2007) 60–87.
- [34] S.L. Michael, C.L. Merlo, C.E. Basch, K.R. Wentzel, H. Wechsler, Critical connections: health and academics, J. Sch. Health 85 (2015) 740–758, https://doi. org/10.1111/josh.12309.
- [35] E. Norris, T. van Steen, A. Direito, E. Stamatakis, Physically active lessons in schools and their impact on physical activity, educational, health and cognition outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis, Br. J. Sports Med. (2019), https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2018-100502.
- [36] A. Watson, A. Timperio, H. Brown, K. Best, K.D. Hesketh, Effect of classroom-based physical activity interventions on academic and physical activity outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis, Int. J. Behav. Nutr. Phys. Activ. 14 (1) (2017) 114, https://doi.org/10.1186/s12966-017-0569-9.